STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

---

Certiorari to Florence County

Thomas A. Russo, Circuit Court Judge

---

Opinion No. 2014-UP-167 (S.C. Ct. App. filed 4/9/2014)

09-GS-21-1564

---

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

DAVID GERRARD JOHNSON,

PETITIONER

Appellate Case No. 2014-001506

---

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI  
TO THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

SUSAN B. HACKETT  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, S. C. 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

## QUESTIONS PRESENTED

- I. Did the Court of Appeals err in affirming the trial court's erroneous admission of a statement made by Petitioner to police officers where the undisputed evidence demonstrated Petitioner's lack of mental capacity to making a knowing waiver of his constitutional rights due to his intellectual disability?
  
- II. Did the Court of Appeals err in affirming the trial court's erroneous admission of evidence that was the fruit of the poisonous tree because police located the items as a result of Petitioner's statement, which was made without Petitioner having the capacity to waive his constitutional rights due to his intellectual disability and where Petitioner lacked the capacity to consent to the search of his home?
  
- III. Did the Court of Appeals err in affirming the trial court's erroneous finding that Petitioner knowingly consented to the police taking a DNA sample and fingerprint standard from him where the undisputed evidence demonstrated Petitioner lacked the mental capacity to make a knowing waiver of his rights due to his intellectual disability?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A Florence County Grand Jury indicted Petitioner for murder, first degree burglary, armed robbery, possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime, and conspiracy. R. 8, ll. 4-11; R. 632-634. On February 9, 2012, the Honorable Thomas Russo presided over a hearing concerning Petitioner's competency, the admissibility of his statement, the voluntariness of his consent to a buccal swab and fingerprinting, and the admissibility of evidence uncovered as a result of Petitioner's statement. R. 1; R. 4, ll. 6-9; R. 32, l. 10 – R. 33, l. 23. Judge Russo concluded Petitioner was competent. R. 31, ll. 20-25. Judge Russo took the other matters under advisement. R. 167, ll. 10-18.

The prosecution, represented by E.L. Clements, III and John Jepertinger, called the case for trial on February 13, 2012 before Judge Russo and a jury. James Hoffmeyer represented Petitioner. R. 193. Judge Russo ruled Petitioner's statement and the items found as a result of his statement were admissible. R. 205, ll. 13-19; R. 210, ll. 3-25. At the conclusion of the presentation of additional evidence, the judge ruled the buccal swabs and fingerprinting were admissible. R. 231, ll. 9-16. The jury found Petitioner guilty as charged. R. 584, ll. 2-18. Judge Russo sentenced Petitioner to life without parole for murder and a consecutive life sentence for burglary first degree, thirty years for armed robbery, and five years for conspiracy. The sentence for the weapons charge was subsumed with the life sentence. R. 588, l. 10 – R. 589, l. 10; R. 635-639.

Petitioner filed a notice of appeal, which was perfected. The Court of Appeals affirmed Petitioner's convictions and sentences. App. 1-5; State v. Johnson, 2014-UP-167 (S.C. Ct. App. filed April 9, 2014). Petitioner filed a petition for rehearing on April 24, 2014. App. 6-26. On June 13, 2014, the Court of Appeals denied the petition for rehearing. App. 27. Petitioner now files this petition for writ of certiorari requesting review of the Court of Appeals' erroneous decision.

## ARGUMENT

I. The Court of Appeals erred in affirming the trial court's erroneous admission of a statement made by Petitioner to police officers where the undisputed evidence demonstrated Petitioner's lack of mental capacity to making a knowing waiver of his constitutional rights due to his intellectual disability.

### **Relevant facts**

During a pretrial hearing, Dr. Alicia V. Hall from the Department of Disability and Special Needs testified regarding whether Petitioner was competent to stand trial. In arriving at her conclusion that Petitioner was competent, Dr. Hall determined that Petitioner suffered from an intellectual disability, formerly called mental retardation. R. 12, ll. 4-16. She placed Petitioner in the mild range of mental retardation. R. 12, ll. 17-23. Petitioner "required more time to understand and answer questions than a person who did not have intellectual disability." R. 18, ll. 13-17. Importantly, Dr. Hall qualified her opinion that Petitioner was competent to enter a guilty plea: "Yes, as long as with the caveat that he was given ample time to understand." R. 19, ll. 9-13. Even more importantly, she qualified her finding of competency – "he met the standard for competency, but that he does require more time to answer questions and make sure that he's fully understanding what is being asked of him." R. 27, ll. 18-24.

Petitioner's school records indicated a full scale IQ score of 58 in September 1993 and a score of 51 in September 1996. R. 23, ll. 18-23; R. 24, ll. 2-6. Petitioner's test scores were in the "extremely low range." R. 24, ll. 11-12. During the competency evaluation, Petitioner struggled to understand conspiracy. Dr. Hall educated Petitioner on the topic and he applied this education to a hypothetical case. R. 25, l. 15 – R. 26, l. 6. Additionally, Petitioner struggled with the concept of a plea bargain, and educating him on this topic required "a good deal of effort and education" by the

doctors. R. 26, ll. 7-12. According to Dr. Hall, a finding of competency required a fairly low standard of understanding. R. 27, ll. 4-7.

At 4 p.m., investigators took Petitioner to the office of Timothy Wade Compton, an officer with the Florence Police Department, to sit while investigators handled other matters R. 37, l. 7 – R. 38, l. 12. Compton played a video game on his computer, and Petitioner laughed about the game. The two talked about the video game. After about an hour, Compton and Petitioner got something to eat and drink from the vending machines. R. 39, l. 10 – R. 40, l. 6. Compton began typing reports, and Petitioner asked permission to take a nap. Petitioner slept in the chair for several hours. R. 40, ll. 7-16; R. 60, ll. 10-15.<sup>1</sup>

Compton “got tired of typing” and his curiosity as a detective took over. He “decided [he] wanted to see if [Ppetitioner would] like to talk.” Compton told Petitioner the other detectives were down the hall talking to others and “before they tell them what happened, how about you talk to me.” Petitioner agreed to talk. Compton stated “before we talk I need to read your rights to you.” Compton then read the rights, in toto, from a card. R. 40, l. 19 – R. 41, l. 8; R. 41, l. 24 – R. 42, l. 6; R. 57, ll. 10-17. At the conclusion of the recitation, Compton asked if Petitioner understood and if he wished to talk. R. 45, ll. 3-24. Compton claimed Petitioner understood his rights, and Compton had no reason to believe otherwise. R. 45, l. 21 – R. 46 1; R. 46, ll. 17-23.

Initially, Petitioner said he observed others burglarizing the victim’s residence. Compton accused Petitioner of lying and instructed him to tell the truth. R. 47, ll. 7-17. Then, Petitioner stated he was there when others went into the victim’s residence and stole items. R. 47, ll. 17-19. During the interrogation, two other officers entered the room; thus, three officers participated in the

---

<sup>1</sup> Compton heard the investigation’s details on over the radio. R. 385, line 16 – R. 386, line 4.

interrogation of Petitioner. R. 47, l. 20 – R. 48, l. 10. Thereafter, Compton told Petitioner he needed to tell them where the body was – for the sake of the victim’s family. R. 48, ll. 13-17.<sup>2</sup> Petitioner stated he could take them to the body. R. 48, ll. 17-18. Petitioner claimed he knew the location of the body because “Amp” told him. R. 48, l. 24 – R. 49, l. 1. When Petitioner moved toward the door to direct the officers to the location, Compton ordered him to stop and directed him to return to his seat. R. 49, l. 8-13.

Although Compton claimed he had very limited involvement in the investigation, he knew the suspected cause of death. Therefore, he decided to query Petitioner accordingly. Petitioner stated the deceased’s throat was cut. R. 49, l. 17 – R. 50, l. 7. Afterwards, Petitioner, Compton, Officer Calhoun, and Officer Drulis got into a vehicle, followed by Officers Raines, Drayton, and Godwin in a separate vehicle. R. 50, ll. 15-24. Compton did not know what time they left, but admitted it could have been after midnight – or at least eight hours after Petitioner initially arrived in his office. He knew it was “a long time.” R. 54, ll. 10-21.<sup>3</sup> Petitioner took them to the body on Malloy Street. R. 51, ll. 1-22. Compton accused Petitioner of lying again. He told Petitioner that he knew the location of the body because he had been shown or he was there when the body was dumped. Petitioner responded “yes, sir.” R. 52, ll. 3-13. The officers and Petitioner returned to the police department where everyone entered the conference room and interrogated Petitioner. When “Drayton and Godwin felt they had what they wanted from his statement they recorded his

---

<sup>2</sup> Compton gave a spiel about telling the truth and being honest. R. 392, ll. 6-9. Compton “tried to play on a sympathy card, you know, that we call it. You know, say hey, the family needs closure, we know she is deceased.” R. 394, ll. 2-7.

<sup>3</sup> During the trial, Compton did not recall testifying previously that he spoke to Petitioner after midnight about the crime. However, he admitted that when they went looking for the body, it was some time the next day. It may have been between the hours of two and three in the morning. R. 409, l. 17 – R. 410, l. 10.

statement.” Compton then went home. R. 52, l. 18 – R. 53, l. 5. On cross-examination, Compton claimed no prior knowledge of Petitioner and was unaware he suffered from an intellectual disability. R. 57, l. 24 – R. 58, l. 22.

Melvin Godwin, an investigator, testified that after the individuals searched for the body, everyone returned to the police department “[t]o get a formal statement from the defendant.” R. 77, ll. 16-18. Godwin advised Petitioner of his rights using his card and had Petitioner sign a waiver of rights form. R. 77, ll. 19-25; R. 88, l. 21 – R. 89, l. 4. Godwin did not know if Petitioner could read and write, so he read the form to Petitioner. R. 80, ll. 9-16. Godwin read the card completely, and then asked if Petitioner understood. R. 78, ll. 6-7. Godwin claimed Petitioner was “clear, coherent,” and Goodwin did not notice anything out of the ordinary. R. 78, ll. 19-21.

The officers then talked to Petitioner “to clear the matter, anything discrepancies, to get more detail about what happened” before commencing “the official recorded statement.” Godwin did not know how long this process took. R. 79, ll. 1-10. Petitioner “seemed to understand everything that was being stated in the room” and “never made any statement that he didn’t understand everything.” R. 79, ll. 16-18. The official recorded statement began at 3:15 a.m. – over eleven hours after Petitioner arrived at the police department. R. 86, l. 8 – R. 87, l. 1.

Like Compton, Godwin did not know Petitioner’s education level or any other details of his background. R. 88, ll. 3-20. Godwin did not ask Petitioner if he understood the word “waiver.” R. 89, ll. 12-14. Godwin claimed to have previous experience with severely mentally retarded people, and he knew of their disabilities based on “their behavior and actions.” R. 91, ll. 7-11. Larry Drayton, another officer with the police department, testified similarly to Compton and Godwin. R. 92, l. 25 – R. 104, l. 12.

Dr. David Price testified as an expert witness. His testing revealed Petitioner had an IQ of 59, placing Petitioner at the low end of mild mental retardation. R. 110, ll. 11-25. Additionally, testing placed Petitioner at a grade equivalency of a kindergartner. R. 112, ll. 14-24. In Dr. Price's expert opinion, Petitioner lacked the ability to understand "complex words, complex sentences, complex phrases." R. 113, ll. 16-17. For word reading, Petitioner scored a grade equivalency of a second grader, but sentence comprehension and verbal comprehension showed severe deficits. R. 113, l. 17 – R. 114, l. 2. Petitioner's school records supported Dr. Price's results. R. 114, ll. 3-17. Petitioner could write and read "very simply," but reading did not amount to comprehending. R. 114, ll. 18-23.

Regarding the Miranda rights, Petitioner "would have understood them as well as any kindergartner would have understood them." Petitioner would not have understood the warnings "as far as the implications for stating them." Put simply, in Dr. Price's opinion, Petitioner lacked the ability to understand the Miranda waiver. R. 116, l. 19 – R. 118, l. 6. People with intellectual disabilities learn to adapt through acquiescence – they claim to understand when they do not and laugh at jokes they do not understand. R. 118, l. 7 – R. 119, l. 2. Dr. Price discussed the Miranda warnings with Petitioner. He was unable to define "waive." Dr. Price spent a considerable amount of time talking to Petitioner about each right and explaining the implications of each right. Of course, this happened after Dr. Hall saw Petitioner and educated him as well. R. 119, ll. 7-17.

According to Dr. Price, Petitioner was more agreeable with the officers because he had been in custody for over eleven hours, it was the middle of the night, and at least three officers were present for the interrogation. R. 120, l. 11 – R. 121, l. 2. Dr. Price explained that individuals with mental retardation "tend to decompensate under stress." R. 124, ll. 11-12.

Under unusual periods of stress they tend to disintegrate, may need special assistance and counseling. They just cannot factor and process information about what's going on and understanding what's happening around them, cannot make rational decision during those periods.

R. 133, ll. 13-24. Being under police investigation and being in custody for over eleven hours would cause a person with mental retardation to withdraw and it would decrease their ability to comprehend and make informed choices and decisions. R. 133, l. 25 – R. 134, l. 19.

Dr. Price testified that individuals with mild mental retardation may hold a job. When the prosecutor asked about the ability of kindergartners to hold a job, Dr. Price explained that even kindergartners can perform routine skills. Petitioner worked at McDonald's. R. 124, l. 19 – R. 125, l. 16. Additionally, Petitioner drove a car, despite doing so without a license. R. 126, ll. 12-17. Nevertheless, Dr. Price testified that the police officer's statements regarding how Petitioner informed them of the location of the body supported Petitioner suffering from mental retardation because he failed to use street names and used other landmarks for his guide. R. 127, ll. 11-15.

The prosecutor placed emphasis on the fact that Petitioner had entered guilty pleas previously; and therefore, he had been informed of his rights and waived those rights. R. 129, ll. 1-11. Dr. Price explained, again, this was an example of acquiescence as all that was required of Petitioner was agreement. R. 129, ll. 12-21. Dr. Price, like Dr. Hall, explained that competency to stand trial is not the same as competency to enter a guilty plea because Petitioner would require "special education" in order to enter a guilty plea. R. 135, ll. 10-15.

When asked by the trial court about Petitioner's ability to learn from his past exposure with the court system, Dr. Price testified that Petitioner "never profited from any of those experiences and he really doesn't have an ability to learn." After being in school for twelve years, Petitioner can

read words at a third grade level and his reading comprehension was at a kindergarten level. Thus, Petitioner did not profit from formal education. R. 138, l. 24 – R. 140, l. 3.

At the conclusion of the testimony, the prosecutor argued he “fe[lt] like [he] put up gracious sufficient evidence that [Petitioner] knew what he was doing.” According to the prosecutor, “there’s nothing complex” about “you have the right to remain silent.” He argued it takes very little intelligence to “understand you got the right to keep your mouth shut.” He went through each of the warnings and argued “there was nothing complex” about them. The prosecutor found “it ludicrous that you’d think that he’s in kindergarten or that he - - or that you would try to argue he was on a kindergarten scale. He held a job at McDonald’s for over a year,” which was “well beyond any kindergartner.” He argued Petitioner knew what he was doing and no one coerced him. Nevertheless, he admitted that Petitioner did not “understand a lot of things abstractly,” but argued Petitioner understood “on a basic level that he had the right to keep his mouth shut.” R. 158, l. 24 – R. 162, l. 16.

The prosecutor persisted in arguing the flawed syllogism: if Petitioner were competent to stand trial, then he would be competent to enter a guilty plea; if Petitioner were competent to enter a guilty plea, then he would be competent to waive his rights under Miranda. R. 166, l. 12 – R. 167, l. 9. Petitioner argued the issue was whether Petitioner understood his rights and then freely and voluntarily chose to give up those rights.<sup>4</sup> The evidence was uncontradicted that Petitioner suffered from mental retardation and that it required “real effort” to make sure Petitioner understood information. Petitioner explained the totality of the circumstances included Petitioner’s mental

---

<sup>4</sup> Petitioner renewed his objections contemporaneous with the introduction of the statements at trial. R. 387, ll. 1-19; R. 392, ll. 5-11; R. 471, ll. 2-5; R. 538, ll. 15-19; R. 554, ll. 15-21; R. 858; ll. 19-24.

deficiency, the length of time he had been in police custody, the length of time he had been interrogated, and the number of officers in the room during the interrogation. R. 162, l. 19 – R. 166, l. 10.

### **Discussion**

In Jackson v. Denno, 378 U.S. 368, 376 (1964), the United States Supreme Court held that “a defendant in a criminal case is deprived of due process of law if his conviction is founded, in whole or in part, upon an involuntary confession, without regard for the truth or falsity of the confession.” To introduce a statement produced during custodial interrogation, the prosecution must prove by a preponderance of the evidence that the statement was made freely and voluntarily, and taken in compliance with Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 426 (1966). State v. Von Dohlen, 322 S.C. 234, 243, 471 S.E.2d 689, 694 (1996); State v. Goodwin, 384 S.C. 588, 601, 683 S.E.2d 500, 507 (Ct. App. 2009); State v. Miller, 375 S.C. 370, 378, 652 S.E.2d 444, 448 (Ct. App. 2007); State v. Compton, 366 S.C. 671, 680, 623 S.E.2d 661, 666 (Ct. App. 2005); State v. Crawley, 349 S.C. 459, 463, 562 S.E.2d 683, 685 (Ct. App. 2002). The waiver has two distinct dimensions. It must be “voluntary in the sense that it was the product of a free and deliberate choice rather than intimidation, coercion, or deception,” and it must be “made with a full awareness of both the nature of the right being abandoned and the consequences of the decision to abandon it.” Moran v. Burbine, 475 U.S. 412, 421 (1986); see also State v. Middleton, 288 S.C. 21, 25, 339 S.E.2d 692, 694 (1986). It is not enough that the interrogator advised the suspect of his rights and the suspect made an uncoerced statement. The prosecution must show that the accused understood the rights. Berghuis v. Thompkins, 560 U.S. 370, 384 (2010)(citing Colorado v. Spring, 479 U.S. 564, 573-575 (1987); Connecticut v. Barrett, 479 U.S. 523, 530 (1987)).

In South Carolina, a court must examine the totality of the circumstances surrounding the custodial statement. The examining court must answer the question: did totality of the circumstances surrounding the custodial statement defeat the defendant's will? State v. Moses, 390 S.C. 502, 513, 702 S.E.2d 395, 401 (Ct. App. 2010).

Courts have recognized appropriate factors that may be considered in a totality of the circumstances analysis: background; experience; conduct of the accused; age; maturity; physical condition and mental health; length of custody or detention; police misrepresentations; isolation of a minor from his or her parent; the lack of any advice to the accused of his constitutional rights; threats of violence; direct or indirect promises, however slight; lack of education or low intelligence; repeated and prolonged nature of the questioning; exertion of improper influence; and the use of physical punishment, such as the deprivation of food or sleep.

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