STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

RECEIVED

AUG 18 2014

S.C. Supreme Court

On Petition for Writ of Certiorari to the Court of Appeal
APPEAL FROM FLORENCE COUNTY
Court of General Sessions
Thomas A. Russo, Circuit Court Judge

Unpublished Opinion No. 2014-UP-167 (Ct.App. filed April 9, 2014)

The State,

Respondent,

v.

David Gerrard Johnson,

Petitioner.

Appellate Case No. 2014-001506

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

JOHN W. MCINTOSH
Chief Deputy Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN
Senior Assistant Attorney General
Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211-1549

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

Further, Judge Russo had been assigned exclusive jurisdiction of this matter as a capital case. As he referenced at sentencing, he had the opportunity to observe Petitioner and interact with Petitioner over an extended period of time. Judge Russo had previously considered the evidence of Petitioner’s intellectual disability in precluding the State from seeking the death penalty. (See R. p. 588). It is of no little note that counsel had no objection to the trial judge’s explanation of the right to remain silent or the decision not to testify, and that decision, as the judge stated, was Petitioner’s own decision to make, which he stated he understood. (R. p. 707, line 4 – p. 710, line 12). This was arguably a more complicated right to understand, with attendant considerations, than the right to remain silent and the assertion of that right. However, there was no indication during this subsequent exchange that understanding was an issue.

Simply, the existence of intellectual disability was not at issue. However, intellectual disability covers a range of deficiency and does not adequately reference

strengths. It is not dispositive of a certain level of understanding. See *Walker v. Kelly*, 593 F.3d 319, 334 (4th Cir. 2010) (quoting AAMR, User's Guide: Mental Retardation: Definition, Classification, and Systems of Support 8 (10th ed. 2002) (2007) (“ ‘Within an individual, limitations often coexist with strengths.’ This means that people with mental retardation are complex human beings who likely have certain gifts as well as limitations. Like all people, they often do some things better than other things. Individuals may have capabilities and strengths that are independent of their mental retardation.”)). The trial judge was well within his discretion in finding on this record that the statement was voluntary and admissible even with the existence of intellectual disability. See *United States v. Rojas-Tapia*, 446 F.3d 1, 7 (1st Cir. 2006) (71 IQ “not dispositive of the waiver determination.”); *Young v. Walls*, 311 F.3d 846, 850 (7th Cir. 2002) (defendant with 56 IQ statement voluntary: “*Miranda* is not about abstract understanding, nor does the Constitution protect suspects against confessions that are made for reasons other than official coercion.”); *United States v. Turner*, 157 F.3d 552, 555 (8th Cir. 1998) (“although Turner’s I.Q. was in the low-average to borderline range, he was ‘clearly intelligent enough to understand his right’” and testimony supported “Turner was cooperative, reviewed and initialed each admonition of the waiver form, agreed to answer questions, and gave accurate information”) (internal citation omitted); *Correll v. Thompson*, 63 F.3d 1279, 1288 (4th Cir. 1995) (“the totality of the circumstances indicates that Correll’s waiver was knowing and intelligent. Although Correll possessed an I.Q. of only 68, he was 24 years old and had had numerous experiences with law enforcement and *Miranda* warnings; the trial court characterized Correll as ‘streetwise.’”); *Moore v. Dugger*, 856 F.2d 129, 132 (11th Cir. 1988) (statement not involuntary where defendant “had an IQ of

62, functioned at the intellectual level of an eleven-year old, and was classified as educable mentally handicapped” absent evidence of police coercion); *State v. Jennings*, 280 S.C. 62, 64, 309 S.E.2d 759, 760 (1983) (no error in finding confession of mildly mentally retarded defendant, twenty-two years old, admissible where “[n]either the length of custody before the confessions was made, nor the physical deficiencies of the appellant, were conclusive of the issues concerning the voluntariness of the confession.”). Suppression would not be warranted where there was no improper police conduct in exploiting an inability to understand. *See Colorado v. Connelly*, 479 U.S. 157, 166 (1986) (where no improper police conduct found “suppressing respondent’s statements would serve absolutely no purpose in enforcing constitutional guarantees. The purpose of excluding evidence seized in violation of the Constitution is to substantially deter future violations of the Constitution. Only if we were to establish a brand new constitutional right—the right of a criminal defendant to confess to his crime only when totally rational and properly motivated—could respondent’s present claim be sustained.”) (internal citation omitted). Given the ample record support, the Court of Appeals properly affirmed the trial judge’s ruling. Certiorari review is not warranted.

II. *Search Issue*

Petitioner argues that the search that followed from the information obtained from the statement was improper because the statement was not voluntary. (Petition, p. 22). For all the reasons argued above, however, the statement was not involuntary simply due to Petitioner’s intellectual disability. Consequently, Petitioner’s argument on the search issue also fails. This is precisely the conclusion made by the Court of Appeals. (App. p. 4). Thus, the Court of Appeals properly affirmed upon resolution of the statement issue.

Additionally, the record otherwise well supports the voluntariness and consent to the search itself.

“Whether a consent to search was voluntary or the product of duress or coercion, express or implied, is a question of fact to be determined from the ‘totality of the circumstances.’” *State v. Wallace*, 269 S.C. 547, 550, 238 S.E.2d 675, 676 (1977). “A trial judge’s conclusions on issues of fact regarding voluntariness will not be disturbed on appeal unless so manifestly erroneous as to be an abuse of discretion.” *State v. Mattison*, 352 S.C. 577, 585, 575 S.E.2d 852, 856 (Ct.App. 2003). After giving his recorded statement, Petitioner took the officers to his father’s home and showed the officers where several electronic pieces from the robbery were hidden behind a board, under a porch. (R. p. 83, line 15 – p. 84, line 15). (See also Court Exhibit 3, at pp. 592-593).⁹ Under the totality of the circumstances, it is readily apparent that Petitioner voluntarily advised the officers where the electronics were hidden, and further that rather than just giving consent to search, accompanied the officers to the home to recover the items. Thus, the record well and fully supports the trial judge’s factual findings, and legal conclusion on admissibility. The Court of Appeals properly affirmed. Certiorari review should be denied.

⁹ Further, the record reflects the officers also obtained the permission of Petitioner’s father to search the home. (R. p. 90, lines 1-16). This consent from another resident of the home is not contested, thus, the search was conducted with consent. *See Georgia v. Randolph*, 547 U.S. 103, 105-106 (2006) (“The Fourth Amendment recognizes a valid warrantless entry and search of premises when police obtain the voluntary consent of an occupant who shares, or is reasonably believed to share, authority over the area in common with a co-occupant who later objects to the use of evidence so obtained.”).

III. *Consent for DNA and Fingerprints Issue*

Petitioner similarly argues the Court of Appeals erred in upholding the trial judge's ruling that Petitioner knowingly and voluntarily consented to DNA and fingerprint samples when the record established Petitioner was diagnosed with intellectual disability. (Petition, p. 23). The Court of Appeals found that intellectual disability alone did not establish "an inability to give consent" for the DNA and fingerprint samples. (App. p. 4).¹⁰ Consent, like knowledge in a waiver situation, requires a determination based on the "totality of the circumstances." *State v. Wallace*, 269 S.C. 547, 238 S.E.2d 675 (1977) (quoting *Schneckloth v. Bustamonte*, 412 U.S. 218 (1973)). However, different from waiver, consent does not require explanation of rights or proof of knowledge. *Id.* See also *State v. Forrester*, 343 S.C. 637, 645, 541 S.E.2d 837, 841 (2001) ("like the federal standard, our state standard does not require a law enforcement officer conducting a search to inform the defendant of his right to refuse consent."). The Court of Appeals emphasized that *Forrester* does not require that information. (App. p. 4). Petitioner does not clearly address *Forrester*, or the totality of the circumstances; rather, Petitioner again places the sole focus on his intellectual disability. (App. p. 25). He argues, essentially the Court of Appeals erred in relying on the totality of the circumstances, including "Applicant having held a job and earned wages..." (Petition, p.

¹⁰ The State raised a procedural bar as to the fingerprints, as Petitioner argued at trial only that the DNA evidence should be suppressed, not the DNA and fingerprint evidence should be suppressed. (R. p. 142, lines 12 -22). The Court of Appeals did not address the Petitioner's failure to preserve the argument. See, e.g., *State v. McDonald*, 400 S.C. 272, 280, 734 S.E.2d 167, 171 (Ct. App. 2012) (quoting *Wilder Corp. v. Wilke*, 330 S.C. 71, 76, 497 S.E.2d 731, 733 (1998) ("It is axiomatic that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge to be preserved for appellate review.")). At any rate, the Court's logic on the consent issue is sound.

25). Again, the diagnosis does not inform the legal conclusion. To the extent he is arguing that such does not preclude a diagnosis of intellectual disability, that is not the relevant inquiry for determining constitutional questions. (See n. 8 supra). Level of education, however, has been cited as a factor to consider in regard to the circumstances as a whole. *See State v. Pichardo*, 367 S.C. 84, 106, 623 S.E.2d 840, 852 (Ct.App. 2005) (citing fact Reyes “speaks little to no English, did not ‘understand’ English and had a very limited education” in finding “[a] plethora of evidence in the record [that] buttresses the circuit judge’s determination... Reyes’ purported consent to search was not voluntary.”).

Critically, though, there is not, on this record, a question of voluntariness of the consent based on coercion, threat or duress. Rather, the question was whether Petitioner understood the rights he waived in consenting to the search. As waiver principles are not applicable to consent, Petitioner’s argument fails. At any rate, the argument, if cognizable, would fail because the record fully supports the trial judge’s ruling that Petitioner’s mental limitations did not prevent intelligent waiver of rights. In support of this assertion Respondent incorporates the argument as to Issue I as if repeated verbatim. Moreover, unlike *Pichardo* there is no question that Petitioner understood English. Further still, he understood the legal system to such that he was found competent to stand trial or enter a guilty plea. He was not unfamiliar with the legal system thus susceptible to additional pressures of having no experience with officers, judges and lawyers. He was adequately asked and gave consent for the samples. As the Court of Appeals found, the record supports the trial judge’s decision. Specifically, the record shows that Officer Shannon Hill testified that he both showed Petitioner the one page consent form to take

swab DNA sample and fingerprinting, and also explained the request “in his own words.” Specifically, he told Petitioner that the samples were “sent to SLED for further analysis.” Officer Hill also asked Petitioner if Petitioner understood or had questions. He asked no questions, appeared to understand, and complied with the procedures. (R. p. 215, line 13 – p. 216, line 9; p. 216, line 14- p. 218, line 13; p. 219, line 2 – p. 221, line 11). Officer Hill testified, “to my understanding he understood what I was explaining to him. And then he signed in cursive on the line where he [was] supposed to sign his signature.” (R. p. 216, lines 9-12). (See also State’s Exhibit 117, R. p. 619). Defense counsel argued the consent for the DNA sample was not voluntary due to Petitioner’s intellectual disability and his inability to understand. He incorporated the evidence from Dr. Price as presented in regard to the voluntariness of the statement. (R. p. 229, line 17 – p. 230, line 12; R. p. 142, lines 12-16). The trial judge acknowledged the testimony, but ruled the consent was proper:

... I do recall the testimony from Doctor Price. The thing is, you know, as I’ve read case law on these issues and looked ... into these matters, you know, Doctor Price is basically giving an opinion based on what clinically he knows, how these things reacts. And you know, for example, he – he seemed to discount, I mean again, and it’s, I guess it depends on how you perceive the testimony. But Doctor Price seemed to ... be of the belief that because of Mr. Johnson’s intellectual disability that he’s unable to understand anything beyond that of a kindergartner, be able to consent to anything; and yet, he’s shown through that he, at least the evidence was before the Court, that he did understand. Doctor Price seemed to completely discount the testimony that Mr. Johnson held a job, received wages, worked a job, that he understood or knew certain things. That Doctor Price says he’s operating as a kindergarten level, but clearly, he – the reality of it is he operates well above that level when you consider those things. And so based on the totality of the circumstances before the Court and the evidence that’s been before the Court, I believe that the samples were requested appropriately. I don’t believe there was any coercion or undue force or stress under the situation. I’m going to allow the evidence of those samples in....

(R. p. 230, line 13 – p. 231, line 16).

Again, the record well supports the trial judge’s ruling. Further, and in the alternative, the State also correctly argued the inevitable discovery doctrine. (R. p. 141, line 10 – p. 142, lines 7-20). *State v. Spears*, 393 S.C. 466, 482, 713 S.E.2d 324, 332 (Ct.App. 2011) (“The inevitable discovery doctrine, one exception to the exclusionary rule, states that if the prosecution can establish by a preponderance of the evidence that the information ultimately or inevitably would have been discovered by lawful means, the information is admissible despite the fact it was illegally obtained.”).¹¹ A *Schmerber*¹² order could have been obtained. Had Petitioner not consented, the State would have sought such an order. (R. p. 227, line 12 – p. 228, line 2). However, the Officers had every reason to believe the consent was valid. Indeed, the record supports that it was. The exclusionary doctrine works to deter police from improper action, not as an independent right of suppress. *See Davis v. United States*, 131 S.Ct. 2419, 2426 (2011) (“Exclusion is ‘not a personal constitutional right,’ nor is it designed to ‘redress the injury’ occasioned by an unconstitutional search. The rule’s sole purpose, we have repeatedly held, is to deter future Fourth Amendment violations.”) (internal citations omitted). There was no improper action here. In this circumstance, the police did not detect any limitation at all. Exclusion would not be warranted in such circumstances. At any rate, a reasonable probability existed to obtain a warrant based on investigation and statements separate and apart from the DNA evidence. Again, the sample would have

¹¹ Petitioner’s fingerprints were already on file and would have been matched. (R. p. 141, line 20 – p. 142, line 8).

¹² *Schmerber v. California*, 384 U.S. 757 (1986). *Schmerber* allows the circuit court to order the collection of evidentiary samples from a defendant’s person upon a showing of probable cause. *See State v. Simmons*, 384 S.C. 145, 682 S.E.2d 19 (Ct.App. 2009).

been obtained by this separate and independent route if consent had been withheld. *See Spears, supra. See also Nix v. Williams*, 467 U.S. 431, 447 (1984) (“if the government can prove that the evidence *would have been obtained inevitably* and, therefore, would have been admitted *regardless of any overreaching by the police*, there is no rational basis to keep that evidence from the jury in order to ensure the fairness of the trial proceedings. In that situation, the State has gained no advantage at trial and the defendant has suffered no prejudice.”) (emphasis added). However, this Court need not consider the alternative basis as there was no error in the trial court’s ruling, and, consequently, no error in the Court of Appeals’ ruling affirming same. Again, certiorari review should be denied.

CONCLUSION

For all the foregoing reasons, Respondent, the State, submits that the entire petition for writ of certiorari should be denied.